STATE OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

01-27-2015

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT 1

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

App. No. 2014 AP 2855 CR

ERIBERTO VALADEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN ON JULY 23, 2014, THE HON. WILLIAM S. POCAN, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE, PRESIDING

# BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

RICHARD L. ZAFFIRO Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1005614

P.O. Address: 4261 N. 92<sup>nd</sup> St. Wauwatosa, WI 53222-1617 (414) 737-1956 e-mail: <u>richardzaffiro@aol.com</u>

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Did the trial court commit error in denying the defense motion to suppress statements made by Appellant to law enforcement, in violation of Appellant's Constitutional rights under the 4<sup>th</sup>, 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution?
- Did the trial court commit error in denying the defense motion to disclose the identity and statement of a confidential informant, in violation of sec.
  905.10 Stats. and Appellant's Constitutional rights to Due Process under the 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 1 of the Wisconsin Constitution?
- Did the trial court err in imposing a more severe sentence on Appellant for exercising his right to take his case to trial, in violation of Appellant's Constitutional rights to Due Process under the 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 1 of the Wisconsin Constitution, and <u>United States v. Jackson</u>, 390 U.S. 570, 581 (1968)

The court below ruled against Defendant-Appellant on the first two issues, and the third issue is raised for the first time here on appeal.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is requested because the arguments of the appellant are consistent with relevant legal authority, have merit and involve questions of law, and because oral argument will assist this court in understanding and applying appellant's arguments to the facts of this case.

Publication is requested because an opinion by the court in this case will clarify an existing rule of law, will contribute to the legal literature by collecting case law, and will decide a case of substantial and continuing public interest.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A criminal complaint charging Appellant with possession of cocaine with intent to deliver (between 5-15 g) was filed on October 22, 2013. (R.2) On January 7, 2014, Appellant filed a suppression motion pursuant to sec. 971.31 Stats. (R.14) and a motion to disclose the identity and statement of the confidential informant pursuant to sec. 905.10(3)(b) Stats. (R.15 ) which were heard on April 1, 2014 (R.47) and May 22, 2014 (R.48); the motions were denied in an oral ruling on May 22, 2014.

Trial took place between July 21-23, 2014 (R.51, 52, 53, 54) At the conclusion of trial, a verdict of guilty was returned, and the case was set for sentencing, which took place on July 28, 2014. (R.55)

At sentencing, Appellant was sentenced to a total length of imprisonment of 5 years, consecutive to any other sentence. The initial term of confinement in the Wisconsin State Prisons was set at 3 years with credit for 10 days time served. The trial court further ordered Appellant to serve a maximum term of extended supervision of 2 years. (R.55:26-13)

Notice of Appeal was timely filed December 10, 2014 (R.43), and this appeal follows.

Relevant excerpts from the motion hearings, trial, and sentencing are quoted

below.

#### A. Motion to Disclose Identity and Statement of Confidential Source

On April 1, 2014, the defense motion for disclosure of the confidential informant was argued pursuant to sec. 905.10(3)(b) Stats., which creates a two-step procedure to determine whether the government's general privilege to protect the identifies of confidential informants applied. At the close of this hearing, the trial court found the defense had articulated a position why identification of the confidential informant and his statements would be potentially helpful to the defense, and so decided to hold an *in camera* review. (R.47:15-12)

The trial court then turned to the suppression motion (R.47:19-14), and rescheduled it to hear both motions at the same time (R.47:20-21) Both motions were continued to May 22, 2014. (R.48)

Trial counsel argued he was at a disadvantage in that he had not seen the sealed items which were reviewed by the court *in camera*, noting the legal standard is that the defense must show these items contain evidence supporting an assertive defense which could or would create reasonable doubt (R.48:4-16), and that court must balance Appellant's right to present a complete defense against government's right to protect its informants. (R.48:4-25)

The search warrant at issue here listed Appellant's brother Miguel as the target, Miguel was taken into custody, and cocaine was found in one of the bedrooms in the home where both Appellant and Miguel stayed. The warrant affidavit said Miguel was seen with a gun in "his" bedroom, without saying which bedroom this was, and that Miguel was seen selling cocaine out of the residence in the past. (R.48:5-5, 11)

The defense argued Appellant was unaware cocaine was in the bedroom and that it was not his cocaine but could belong to someone else in the residence. These facts would make it reasonable for a jury to assume that Miguel could have left (R.48:5-17) cocaine hidden; here it was found hidden in a shoe. (R.48:6-1)

According to counsel, informant testimony that he observed Miguel selling cocaine would create doubt that Appellant knew cocaine was in the residence, and the informant identified a bedroom in the house as Miguel's room. (R.48:6-3) The searched home had two bedrooms, one with a crib, Appellant's son lived with him there, and at trial the informant might say the room he believed to Miguel's was in fact where the cocaine was found; counsel asserted this would create doubt for a jury that it was Appellant versus Miguel who possessed the cocaine. (R.48:6-9)

In ruling on this motion, the trial court noted the sealed memorandum reviewed *in camera* included evidence about Appellant's activities as well as Miguel's, and so determined it would not be appropriate on balancing defense and state interests to disclose the identity of the confidential informant, and denied this motion. (R.48:19-3) The court made no further record as to what was included in the sealed memorandum.

B. Motion to Suppress Statement

The trial court then moved on to the suppression motion. (R.48:19-23) Det. Slomczewski of the Milwaukee Police Department testified he saw Appellant's door knocked in using a ram to execute the search warrant and also heard loud verbalization and a PA system, at which time he went in. Appellant and his 4 year old son were found in the living room of the home to be searched. (R.48:22-4, 24)

When the detective went in, Appellant was seated on the couch (R.48:23-25) in plastic zip tie handcuffs. Det. Slomczewski guessed he came in within 10 minutes of original entry by other members of the search team. Det. Slomczewski read the face of the search warrant to Appellant, took photos, stood Appellant up, cut off his cuffs, walked him into the dining room where Appellant sat in a chair, and interrogated him. (R.48:24-2, 13, 18, 20)

At that time, Det. Slomczewski was not aware cocaine was in the residence. (R.48:25-15) He discussed with Appellant how long he had lived there, his rent, which bedroom was his, where he worked, what the monthly rent was, and determined that Appellant's bedroom was the room to the right of the bathroom; Det. Slomczewski had not read Appellant <u>Miranda</u> by that point, but contended Appellant was not under arrest when this interrogation occurred. (R.48:26-2, 5, 11, 15)

On cross, defense counsel established with Det. Slomczewski that it was important to ask him these questions to establish who had control of certain rooms because of contraband that was recovered (R.48:27-18). The defense clarified this was a no knock search, forced entry was made with a battering ram (R.48:28-12, 19), Det. Slomczewski drove there in an armored vehicle known as the Bear Cat, the others announced their presence with a loud speaker (R.48:29-6, 18), 11 people were in the entry team, 8 more officers were in the search team not including him, a couple of police supervisors were there too, Appellant was searched before this interrogation occurred (R.48:31-3), and was cuffed with hands behind his back for at least 10 minutes before he saw Appellant. (R.48:32-6)

The defense established Appellant would not have been free to just walk out of the residence during this interrogation (R.48:32-24), was not told he was not under arrest before being questioned, no <u>Miranda</u> warnings had been given, the time from the police entry into his home until their leaving was more than an hour (R.48:33-2), and Appellant was in fact formally arrested at the end of the search. (R.48:34-15)

The court asked the state why Appellant would not have considered himself in custody when he was handcuffed before he was put in the kitchen (R.48:41-16), and said it seemed to be expecting a lot of this reasonable person to understand the distinction between "in custody" or not in custody when he was in cuffs after someone had taken a battering ram to his door. (R.48:42-18) Per the court, someone who had had a battering ram taken to his door and felt cops screwed up and must have the wrong house would have a different view on custody. (R.48:43-19)

The defense argued that being detained for a search warrant is not a bright line test. Counsel noted police rushed in with a reasonable inference that weapons were drawn at the time. (R.48:45-1)

The court asked why Appellant would assume he was in custody just because police entered the residence with a search warrant, and the defense again noted the 22 officers rushing in, Appellant was searched, handcuffed and not allowed to leave, was not told he was not under arrest, there was no indication in the <u>Goetz</u> case of a no knock search (R.48:45-10) but instead Goetz was told there was no arrest unless he interfered with the search, a reasonable person in <u>Goetz</u> would not believe he was under arrest because he was told he was not under arrest, Goetz was allowed to walk around the residence which also supports this (R.48:46-15), and she was not handcuffed until after everything, while Appellant was handcuffed for 10 minutes before being spoken to. (R.48:47-1) See State v. Goetz, 249 Wis.2d 380 (2001), 2001 WI App 294, 638 N.W.2d 386.

The court asked whether a reasonable person would assume the cuffs were taken off because he was not under arrest, but the defense pointed out because police had already searched Appellant, had already secured his entire residence, 22 officers, forced entry, weapons drawn, handcuffed were used before he was questioned, all distinctions (R.48:47-7, 13), including that he was frisked, a reasonable person would believe they were under arrest. (R.48:48)

Defense counsel noted there was no forced entry in <u>Goetz</u> (48:48-25), no indication as to number of officers, or weapons drawn. (R.48:49-1) A reasonable person in Appellant's position would have felt themselves under arrest. (R.48:50-1)

In denying the motion, the trial court said the defense was arguing the dissent in <u>Goetz</u> (R.48:51-14) Before conversation took place the cuffs came off, which would tell a reasonable person they were not under (R.48:52-23) arrest, the court found it significant that Det. Slomczewski at that time did not know cocaine was in the residence, wasn't asking where the drugs were as in <u>Goetz</u>, and was basically engaging Appellant in small talk, which overcomes Appellant not being told he was not under arrest. (R.48:53-2) According to the court, a reasonable person would not believe he was in custody, and so the motion to suppress denied. (R.48:54-11)

### C. Trial and the Theory of the Defense

After losing these motions, defense counsel laid out his theory of the case at trial in his opening statement on July 21, 2014. (R.51:47) Counsel indicated Appellant was not aware of cocaine in the house, which cocaine was not his and most likely belonged to his brother Miguel. Miguel was listed on the face of the warrant, was seen driving away, was arrested and taken into custody. Appellant was present in house during the search, but not in bedroom where cocaine was found. (R.51:48-15, 22, 51-2)

Counsel noted this was a small apartment (R.51:48-25) with two bedrooms, one with an adult and a child bed while the cocaine was found in the other bedroom, Appellants' fingerprints were not on the baggie holding the cocaine which was found, and no DNA of Appellant was on that baggie or the shoe in which the cocaine baggie was found. Miguel's identifiers were found throughout the house (R.51:49), officers did not know who stayed in the house the night before but did see Miguel leave, and no one ever saw Appellant with this cocaine. He noted the jury would not hear that Appellant was observed selling cocaine, nor admit knowing cocaine was there, Appellant's fingerprints were found in same drawer as the scale, none of the cocaine, baggies or scale were in plain view (R.51:50), and Appellant denied knowing of the cocaine, recovered from this residence where at least 2 people lived. (R.51:51-3)

During cross-examination of Off. Cross on that first day of trial, defense counsel brought out that police arrested Miguel prior to search of the house, Off. Frank was aware identifiers of Miguel and photos of him were found throughout the house (R.51:78-4, 13), and police looked in the southeast bedroom but did not search it. In Ex. 7, the bed had no bedding (R.51:79-15), a woman's bag was hanging in there, a number of different shoes were in there (R.51:80-10, 16), and he did not know where in the room the shoe with money in it was found. The Appellant's WE Energies bill and photo ID and some photos were in a shoe box lying on the bed (R.51:81-8, 18) with no cocaine or scale or money in it, and Off. Frank did not know who slept in there the night before nor who was in the residence. (R.51:82-11)

In his testimony, Off. Frank admitted there were significant balances on the WE Energies bill found during the search, so that possibly the found money (R.51:82-18) was set aside to apply to that bill. Ex 12 showed the southeast bedroom which had a large bed with bedding and also a children's bed; the only child present in that house was Appellant's son. (R.51:83)

According to Off. Frank, Appellant was searched and no contraband was found on his person. (R.51:84-8) Off. Frank admitted he had no idea how long the cocaine found during their search of the residence had been there or if Miguel left it there. (R.51:84-15)

Ex. 24 (R.51:85-4) was a photo of the Escalade being driven by Miguel at the time of his arrest, Off. Frank inventoried the Escalade's title and did not recall where he found it in the residence; Ex. 25 was a photo of municipal paperwork addressed to Miguel (R.51:85-24); Ex. 26 was Miguel's Wisconsin driver's license (R.51:87-14) which was found in the southeast bedroom (R.51:87-18); Ex. 27 was a citation to Miguel, but Off. Frank was not sure where it was found (R.51:88-13, 19); Ex. 28 was a photo of a plastic wristband with Miguel's name and photo on it from the county jail (R.51:88-25), and again Off. Frank was not sure where it was found (R.51:89-2); and Ex. 29 was a photo of a Department of Corrections ID with Miguel's picture on it, with Off. Frank not sure where it was found, either. (R.51:898, 16) Photos of Miguel were found throughout the residence (R.51:90-3), and in fact Off. Frank was not sure who lived there or shared bedrooms. (R.51:95-19)

On the morning of July 22, 2014, Off Molina testified he saw Miguel leave the residence around 5, and so called for a squad to stop and detain him (R.52:25-16, 22) He did not know if anyone else lived there or spent the night, even Appellant or Miguel (R.52:27-21)

Off. Conway testified regarding how things were taken out of the china cabinet and put there to photograph. Ex. 14 was a photo of the drawer where the scale was found, with a photo in it (R.52:37-12), the subject of which was Miguel. Ex. 34 was a photo of 4 people, one of whom was Miguel, found in the drawer with the scale. (R.52:40-7) Ex. 27 was Miguel's citation, (R.52:40-18) Ex. 15 was a WE Energies bill (R.52:38-8) that Off. Conway thought was found in the drawer. He indicated the scale and baggies were not in plain view (R.52:41) and that he did not find any baggies missing their corners (R.52:42-5)

At trial on the afternoon of July 22, 2014, the State produced Appellant's statement from the interview with Det. Slomczewski in the dining room indicating that he, his brother, and mom when she is fighting with her boyfriend, all live there, as well as his son on occasion, and that the southwest bedroom where the cocaine was found was his. (R.53:12) The cocaine was found in a shoe, the Crime lab would do DNA testing in

a drug case on request but the police did not make the request in this case, and the shoe was not taken into evidence, nor did the police check to see if it fit Appellant or his brother to determine whose it was. (R.53:14)

The State also played Det. Slomczewski's interview with the Appellant taken shortly after his arrest. (R.53:5-16) In it, the detective asked Appellant how much cocaine was in the residence, and Appellant said he did not know anything about it and couldn't even guess how much it was; the detective then told Appellant he had the wrong attitude (R.53:6-14) and asked if he or his brother was bringing cocaine into the residence, and Appellant said he did not know anything about it (R.53:7-18), told Appellant he had dope there, him living there, his name on a utility bill, and that was all he needed, and Appellant still denied awareness of the cocaine; Appellant then went on to say he did not care and this was the life he chose to live (R.53:8-11), that he has to face the consequences, that if he truly did not know about the cocaine, then there was nothing for him to cooperate about, the detective told Appellant maybe Miguel would take a deal, and that it was on Appellant if he wanted to make a deal or not, at which point Appellant said "Does it look like I care". (R.53:9) and told Det. Slomczewski a number of times he knew nothing of and was not selling cocaine. (R.53:10-4)

At the close of the State's case, the Defense moved to (R.53:17-25) dismiss, pointing out there was a bag of cocaine in a shoe found in a residence where there were at least 2 occupants, and identifiers for both were found throughout the residence. The defense motion was denied. (R.53:19-4)

During deliberations, the following question came in from the jurors: "Does

Eriberto have to have knowledge that cocaine has been in the house from time to time for us to say he shared possession and control of the cocaine? Does Eriberto have to have knowledge that cocaine is (R.53:74-21) currently in the house somewhere but not specifically where for us to say he has control, shared control and possession? Does Eriberto have to know that cocaine is specifically in that by and in that shoe for him to have control and or shared control, therefore possession? Can he have control without knowledge?" (R.53:75) The Court indicated the jury could find all the answers in instruction number 6035 (R.53:77-20) and that he would tell them to fill out the verdict based upon the testimony and evidence presented at trial and the instructions of law presented by the court; the case was then adjourned for the night. (R.53:78-1)

On the next morning, the jury completed its deliberations and came back with a verdict of guilty. (R.54:4) No request was made for a presentence investigation (R.54:9-4), and the case was then set over for sentencing. (R. 54:10-19)

D. Sentencing

Sentencing was held July 28, 2014. In sentencing him, the court pointed out the three sentencing objectives (R.55:20-18), noting Appellant had a substantial juvenile record including Wales until age 18, extensive drug crimes as a juvenile for this 23 year old man; there was an antisocial or socially undesireable behavioral problem that had developed, Appellant was age 23 with no high school degree and 2 kids, and that possession with intent to deliver meant Appellant was adversely affecting the community as well as himself. (R.55:21)

The court then went on to say Appellant was remorseful but went to trial and

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