RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-21-2015

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP2855-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIBERTO VALADEZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM S. POCAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2797 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) latorracadv@doj.state.wi.us

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

Relying upon *Summers*, this court concluded that while the officers had detained Goetz, she was not in custody. *Goetz*, 249 Wis. 2d 380, ¶¶ 12-13. "This was not a situation where a reasonable person would have considered her freedom of movement to be restrained to the degree associated with a formal arrest." Id. ¶ 13.

The State's burden at a Miranda hearing. The State must establish by a preponderance of the evidence whether a custodial interrogation occurred that required the officer to administer Miranda warnings. State v. Armstrong, 223 Wis. 2d 331, 345-46, 588 N.W.2d 606 (1999).

The appellate standard of review. On review of the circuit court's denial of the suppression motion, this court will uphold the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. It then independently reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts as found. State v. Stevens, 2012 WI 97, ¶ 36, 343 Wis. 2d 157, 822 N.W.2d 79.

B. A reasonable person in Valadez's position would not have considered his freedom of movement to be restrained to the degree associated with a formal arrest.

While officers detained Valadez during the execution of a search warrant, the record supports the circuit court's finding that Valadez was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes.

Milwaukee Police Detective Michael Slomczewski obtained a no-knock search warrant for the home at 1608 S. Union Street in Milwaukee (48:21). Tactical squad officers forcibly entered the home, announcing their presence as they did so (48:22). Slomczewski could not recall if entry team officers had drawn their weapons during their entry (48:30). Approximately ten minutes after their entry, tactical squad officers gave an all clear sign. Slomczewski and the search team entered the home. The tactical squad officers then left the area (48:24, 32).

Upon entry, Slomczewski saw Valadez and his fouryear-old child in the living room (48:22). Slomczewski used cutters to remove the flexible handcuffs that the tactical squad officers had placed on Valadez during entry. Slomczewski also read the search warrant to Valadez (48:24). Somczewski did not escort Valadez into the kitchen but simply stated "[H]ey, let's go in the dining room and talk" (48:32). Slomczewski and Valadez then walked into the dining room. Valadez sat in a chair against the wall while Slomczewski sat at the table (48:24). Slomczewski allowed Valadez's child to join them in case Valadez needed to tend to him. The child played while Slomczewski spoke with Valadez (48:25).

Slomczewski asked Valadez questions related to how long he lived at the house, his rent, and which bedroom was his. The conversation lasted only a few minutes. Slomczewski described it as small-talk. Slomczewski had known Valadez for some time through prior police contacts (48:26). When they spoke, Slomczewski was unaware of the presence of any drugs or contraband in the residence (48:25). Slomczewski did not read Valadez his *Miranda* warnings. Slomczewski made no remarks to Valadez as to whether he was in custody (48:33).

The circuit court correctly found that Valadez was not in custody when Slomczewski spoke with him. Therefore, Slomczewski was not required to give Valadez *Miranda* warnings (48:54; R-Ap. 110). Slomczewski had removed Valadez's restraints (48:52; R-Ap. 108). Valadez was no longer restrained in a manner associated with a formal arrest. The circuit court noted that the removal of Valadez's handcuffs would have prompted a reasonable person to believe that he or she were not under arrest (48:52-53; R-Ap. 108-09).

circumstances surrounding the interview support the circuit court's conclusion that Valadez was not in custody. After Slomczewski removed the handcuffs, Slomczewski and Valadez walked to the dining room and sat down in chairs. Valadez's son was present during their conversation. The circuit court described the conversation as small talk (48:53; R-Ap. 109). The questions related to Valadez's employment and connection to the residence. Nothing in the record suggests that any of the officers brandished weapons or engaged in other threatening behavior during this conversation. Further, when they spoke, officers had not yet recovered any contraband (48:53; At the time of the interview, Slomczewski lacked any basis to arrest Valadez.

The circumstances surrounding Slomczweski's brief, non-accusatory conversation with Valadez would not have caused a reasonable person in Valadez's position to believe that his freedom of movement had been restrained to a degree associated with a formal arrest. Because Valadez was not in custody, the circuit court properly denied his motion to suppress his statement (48:54; R-Ap. 110).

C. Any error in admitting Valadez's statement was harmless.

The trial use of a defendant's statement taken in violation of *Miranda* may be harmless error. The State must demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt "that the jury would have arrived at the same verdict had the error not occurred." *State v. Martin*, 2012 WI 96, ¶ 45, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270 (emphasis omitted). An error is harmless if it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty had the error not occurred. *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 46, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

Here, Valadez moved to suppress his statement to Slomcziewski that he occupied the bedroom in the home where officers found cocaine (14:2). At trial, the State presented other strong evidence linking Valadez to the cocaine and other evidence related to drug trafficking seized from his home.

Valadez was connected to the Union Street home. Upon entry, officers observed two occupants inside the home. Valdadez was seated in the living room with his young son nearby (51:59-60; 52:70). In a subsequent, properly *Mirandized* statement, Valadez acknowledged that he sometimes lived at the home (52:94).

Officer Dustin Frank searched the southwest bedroom (51:61). Inside a men's tennis shoe, Frank found a clear plastic bag containing suspected crack cocaine.² The shoe was lying in the middle of the floor (51:63-64). Inside a child's sneaker, officers recovered \$450 in currency (51:64-65; 52:79-80). Inside a shoe box, Frank also found numerous photographs of Valadez along with WE Energy bills and a

² Wisconsin State Crime Laboratory analyst Laura Hedden identified the white material as cocaine base with a weight of 6.0977 grams (52:4-11).

Wisconsin ID with his name on them (51:64, 70). The WE Energy bills were from 2012 and included Valadez's name and the Union Street address (51:74-75; 52:38). Two \$100 bills were folded up inside the WE Energy bill (51:64; 52:78).

Officers found drug-related paraphernalia in the common areas along with other material linking Valadez to the home. Officer Christopher Conway searched a china cabinet in the living room. In a drawer, the officers identified a number of items linking both Valadez and his brother, Miguel Valadez ("Miguel") to the residence. These items included photographs of both brothers (52:32-33). A WE Energy bill had Valadez's name and the Union Street address on it (52:38). Officers also found a gram scale with white powdery residue that is commonly used for packaging and selling cocaine (52:33-34). In addition, on top of the cabinet, officers also recovered plastic bags used for packing cocaine (52:34-35).

Officer Andrew Molina searched the southeast bedroom, which was to the left of the bathroom. In the bedroom, Molina observed a toddler's bed, toys, and clothing, and men's clothing (52:21). In the southeast bedroom, Molina saw a Wisconsin state ID that had Miguel Valadez's name with an Orchard Street address on it (52:23).

At the conclusion of the search, officers arrested Valadez (48:34). Following Valadez's arrest and transportation to a district station, Detective Slomczewski informed Valadez of his *Miranda* rights and interviewed him (52:93). Valadez denied knowing anything about the cocaine (52:100). When Slomczewski asked Valadez if he was willing to cooperate, Valadez responded "this is the life that I chose to live, Slomczewski, I have to deal with the consequences" (52:96). When Slomczewski spoke to Valadez about prison, Valadez "very nonchalantly, kind of kicked back in his chair

without a care in the world" and stated "does it look like I care" (52:97). In conjunction with the other seized evidence, a jury could reasonably conclude that Valadez's *Mirandized* statements constituted an implicit admission of guilt.

Thus, even without consideration of the statement that Valadez challenges, the record supports the jury's guilty verdict beyond a reasonable doubt. Any error in admitting Valadez's statement that he occupied the bedroom where officers found cocaine was harmless.

II. The circuit court properly denied Valadez's motion for disclosure of the confidential informer's identity.

Valadez asserts that the circuit court erred when it denied his motion for disclosure of the informer's identity (15; 16). The State opposed Valadez's motion (18) and submitted material under seal for the circuit court's in camera review (22). Following its review, the circuit court exercised its discretion and denied Valadez's motion (48:18-19; R-Ap. 104-05). The circuit court applied the proper legal standard when it denied Valadez's motion.

A. General legal principles guiding a circuit court's decision to order disclosure of a confidential informer's identity.

The informer privilege under Wis. Stat. § 905.10. A criminal defendant does not have an absolute constitutional right to learn the identity of an informer. State v. Vanmanivong, 2003 WI 41, ¶ 30, 261 Wis. 2d 202, 661 N.W.2d 76. Wisconsin Stat. § 905.10(1) codifies the general privilege protecting the identity of a confidential informer. Wisconsin Stat. § 905.10(3) recognizes several exceptions to the privilege. Here, Valadez sought disclosure

of the confidential informer's identity because he believed that the "informer may be able to give testimony necessary to a fair determination of the issue of guilt or innocence" Wis. Stat. § 905.10(3)(b).

Wisconsin Stat. § 905.10(3)(b) establishes a two-step process that a circuit court must follow before it may order the State to disclose a confidential informer's identity. First, the defendant "must show that there is a reasonable possibility that the informer may be able to provide testimony necessary to the defendant's theory of defense." *State v. Nellessen*, 2014 WI 84, ¶ 36, ____ Wis. 2d ___, 849 N.W.2d 654. A defendant's initial showing must not be speculative but be based on a "reasonable possibility, grounded in the facts and circumstances of the case." *Id.* ¶ 2.

Second, if a defendant satisfies this threshold burden, Wis. Stat. § 905.10(3)(b) requires the circuit court to conduct an in camera review. Through this in camera process, the State may provide the circuit court with evidence relevant to a determination of whether the informer can in fact provide testimony relevant to a fair determination of guilt or innocence. The circuit court should order disclosure "[i]f, and only if, the court determines that an informer's testimony is necessary to the defense in that it could create a reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt in the juror's minds" Vanmanivong, 261 Wis. 2d 202, ¶ 32.

Standard of review. When this court reviews a circuit court's decision to deny disclosure of an informer's identity following an in camera review, it must determine whether the circuit court properly exercised its discretion. Id. ¶ 15. To the extent that the circuit court's decision implicates a defendant's due process right to a fair trial, the circuit court's decision presents a question of law that this court reviews de novo. Id. ¶ 17.

B. The circuit court properly denied Valadez's motion to disclose the confidential informer's identity.

Valadez moved for disclosure of the identity of the confidential informer whose information provided probable cause to obtain a search warrant of Valadez's South Union Street residence (15: 16). According to the search warrant affidavit, the informer stated that two individuals, "Bono" and "Choppa" resided at this residence. Based upon the informer's review of police booking photographs, officers identified "Choppa" as the defendant, Eriberto Valadez and "Bono" as Miguel Valadez. The informer knew that Valadez and Miguel were brothers. The informer observed two firearms in Miguel's bedroom. The informer also reported that he had previously seen cocaine in the residence. In addition, the informer stated that Miguel sold cocaine to people, and that he had packaged it in individual corner bags (16:10). The affidavit did not allege that Eriberto Valadez possessed or distributed any cocaine.

Valadez asserted that disclosure of the informer's identity would aid his defense by allowing him to demonstrate that the seized cocaine belonged to Miguel rather than him (16:5; 47:8-11). The circuit court stated that if Valadez "can articulate even a possibility that this information would be helpful, then the Court has to go through the exercise" (47:15).³ The circuit court found that Valadez had met his burden and ordered an in camera review (47:15).

 $^{^3}$ The circuit court appears to have based its decision to grant an in camera review based upon this court's reasoning in *State v. Nellessen*, 2013 WI App 46, ¶ 14, 347 Wis. 2d 537, 830 N.W.2d 266, *reversed by* 2014 WI 84, ¶ 36, ___ Wis. 2d ___, 849 N.W.2d 654. The supreme court had not yet decided *Nellessen* when the circuit court addressed Valadez's motion. The supreme court subsequently clarified the standard, requiring more than merely a showing of any possibility but a showing of a "reasonable possibility, grounded in the facts and circumstances of the case." *Nellessen*, 2014 WI 84, ¶ 2.

The State provided materials to the circuit court under seal for its review (20; 21; 22). The circuit court subsequently reviewed the State's submissions. It found that nothing in the submitted materials would assist Valadez. In fact, the circuit court noted that the submitted material implicated both Valadez and Miguel in the cocaine sales. Balancing the State's interest with Valadez's interest, the circuit court held that it would be inappropriate to order disclosure of the informer's identity (48:17-18; R-Ap. 103-04).

The material that the circuit court reviewed in camera suggested that both Valadez and Miguel participated in the distribution of cocaine from the residence. Disclosure here would not have supported Valadez's theory of defense, i.e., that he did not possess the cocaine seized from the Union Street home. Applying the *Vanmanivong* standard, nothing in the material that the circuit court reviewed would have created a reasonable doubt about Valadez's guilt in the juror's minds. 261 Wis. 2d at ¶ 32. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it denied Valadez's motion for disclosure of the informer's identity.

III. The circuit court did not penalize Valadez for exercising his right to a jury trial.

Valadez asserts that the circuit court violated his due process rights when it sentenced Valadez based upon his exercise of his right to a jury trial. Valadez's brief at 23. The record does not support Valadez's claim.

A. Valadez did not raise his sentencing claim before the circuit court and has forfeited his right to raise it on appeal.

Valadez did not raise the sentencing issue with the circuit court. As a general rule, an appellate court will not consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. Valadez has the burden of establishing through reference to the

record that he raised the issue before the circuit court. State v. Caban, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 563 N.W.2d 501 (1997). A defendant must move for sentence modification in the circuit court before he or she seeks appellate review of the sentence. State v. Chambers, 173 Wis. 2d 237, 261, 496 N.W.2d 191 (Ct. App. 1992); see also Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(h) (requiring a party to file a motion for postconviction relief before filing a notice of appeal unless the issue was previously raised or the issue concerns the sufficiency of the evidence); and Wis. Stat. § 974.02(2).

Valadez did not object to his sentence when the circuit court imposed it. He also did not raise his sentencing claim through a postconviction motion. Valadez has forfeited his right to raise his claim on appeal. *But see Caban*, 210 Wis. 2d at 604, 609, (the forfeiture rule is a rule of administration and this court may decline to apply the rule).

B. General legal principles governing a circuit court's exercise of sentencing discretion.

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